1989

John Wagner Associates v. Hercules, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to an Order of transfer dated January 10, 1989 from the Utah Supreme Court under Utah Code Annotated § 78-2-2(4) and Rule 4A of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court. The Utah Supreme Court had Jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-2-2(3)(j).

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This case is an appeal from an Order based upon a Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Defendant-Appellee Hercules under which Plaintiff-Appellant's mechanic's lien cause of action was dismissed and an appeal from a final Judgement following trial under which Plaintiff-Appellant's cause of action for failure to obtain a payment bond was dismissed. The Order and final Judgment were both issued by the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The issues presented by this appeal are stated as follows:

- a. Whether the trial court committed an error of law when it ruled that the alienability of an interest in real property affects the validity or enforceability of a mechanic's lien filed against that interest pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 38-1-1 et seq. (1953 as amended); and
- b. Whether the trial court incorrectly ruled that modular office complexes of the configuration and magnitude of those which were constructed for Defendant Hercules do not require the project owner to obtain a payment bond in connection with the work

pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 14-2-1 (1953 as amended prior to 1986).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

There are three statutes set forth in the Addendum hereto. First, is Utah Code Annotated § 14-2-1 et seq. (1953 as amended in 1985); Second, is Utah Code Annotated § 14-2-1 et seq. (1953 as amended in 1987); and Third, is Utah Code Annotated § 38-1-3 (1953 as amended in 1985).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of the Plaintiff-Appellant supplying construction materials for the construction of approximately 25,000 square feet of office space in two complexes for Defendant-Appellee Hercules. Plaintiff-Appellant filed a Notice of Lien against the subject property with the Salt Lake County Recorder pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 38-1-1 et seq. (1953 as amended). Subsequently, Plaintiff filed this action for breach of a joint-check agreement against Defendant Modulaire, for failure to obtain a payment bond as required by Utah Code Annotated § 14-2-1 et seq. (1953 as amended prior to 1986) against Defendant-Appellee Hercules, and for foreclosure of the mechanic's lien.

The parties submitted various motions for summary judgment and memorandums in support thereof. The court below ruled that there were material issues of fact preventing the granting of summary judgment on all motions for summary judgment except on Plaintiff-Appellant's and Defendant-Appellee Hercules' motions

relating to Plaintiff-Appellant's mechanic's lien foreclosure cause of action.

Following hearings on the motions for summary judgment, the trial court dismissed Plaintiff-Appellant's mechanic's lien cause of action. The trial court ruled that the interest of Defendant-Appellee Hercules in the subject property was not alienable and, therefore, Plaintiff-Appellant's mechanic's lien could not attach thereto.

Prior to trial, Plaintiff-Appellant and Defendant Modulaire entered into a settlement agreement resolving all causes of action between Plaintiff and Defendant Modulaire. Thus, the only cause of action remaining at trial was for failure to obtain a payment bond against Defendant-Appellee Hercules pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 14-2-1 et seq. (1953 as amended prior to 1986).

At the end of trial, the trial judge ruled from the bench and dismissed Plaintiff-Appellant's failure to obtain a payment bond cause of action based upon the court's legal conclusion that the office complexes were not affixed to the subject property. Defendant-Appellee Hercules prepared findings of fact and conclusions of law and a final judgment. Plaintiff-Appellee filed objections based, in part, upon the exclusion of undisputed facts which should have been and were in fact part of the factual analysis upon which the trial court based its legal conclusions. Despite these objections by Plaintiff-Appellant to the findings of fact and conclusions of law and to the final judgment, the court signed and entered the findings of fact and conclusions of law and

the final judgment in substantially the same form as prepared by Defendant-Appellee Hercules.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. This action arises out of the Plaintiff-Appellant supplying construction materials for the construction of approximately 25,000 square feet of office space in two complexes for Defendant-Appellee Hercules. Trial Transcript -- R. at 640, pp. 50 & 51.

2. The office space was constructed with 30 modular office units, 14 feet by 60 feet each. One complex contains 19 units, Annex 15, and the other complex contains 11 units, Annex 16. Affidavit of Chilton Leach, Exhibit 3 -- R. at 217.

3. The complexes were constructed on land situated in western Salt Lake County which is used by Defendant-Appellee Hercules under an agreement between Defendant-Appellee Hercules and the United States Navy. Trial Exhibit 68D.

4. The subject property comprises part of Defendant-Appellee Hercules' Bacchus Works operation. Affidavit of Ryder Christian Waring, Exhibit 2 -- R. at 247.

5. Defendant-Appellee Hercules contracted with Defendant Modulaire for the construction and supply of the modular office units. R. at 217 and Trial Transcript at p. 7.

6. Space Building Systems contracted with Defendant Modulaire to perform the interior finish and other work on the project. R. at 226 and Trial Transcript at p. 7.

7. Space Building Systems has since been granted protection under the Unites States Bankruptcy laws.

8. Plaintiff-Appellant supplied drywall and other interior finish materials to the project pursuant to a contract between Plaintiff-Appellant and Space Building Systems. Trial Transcript at p. 7.

9. Plaintiff-Appellant was not paid by Space Building Systems in full for the materials it furnished to the project. Trial Transcript at pp. 11-13.

10. Plaintiff-Appellant made demand for payment from Defendants and upon refusal of the Defendants to make payment for the materials, Plaintiff filed a Notice of Lien against the subject property with the Salt Lake County Recorder pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 38-1-1 et seq. (1953 as amended). Notice of Lien Attached to Complaint -- R. at 15.

12. On or about June 7, 1985, Defendant-Appellee Hercules entered into a contract with Defendant Modulaire for the construction of certain office complexes on property located approximately at 4100 South 8400 West. Affidavit of Ryder Christian Waring, Exhibit 2 -- R. at 247.

13. On or about July 3, 1985, Modulaire entered a subcontract with Space Building Systems wherein Space Building Systems was to provide labor and materials in the construction and improvement of the office complexes and more particularly to "complete interior rough & finish walls & ceiling complete."

Affidavit of Chilton Leach, Exhibit 4, Cover Sheet and Article 1.
1 -- R. at 226.

14. From July 8, 1985, through September 26, 1985, John Wagner Associates d/b/a Grabber Utah (hereinafter "Grabber Utah") sold certain supplies and materials to Space Building Systems, which were installed, integrated and incorporated into the office complexes. Trial Transcript, Testimony of Robert Spencer, Ben Gabladon and Larry Bills.

15. On October 10, 1985, Space Building Systems filed for relief under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code.

16. The amount owing Grabber Utah for supplies and materials sold to Space Building Systems and incorporated into the Offices is \$14,300.03, together with interest, costs and attorney's fees, less application of an undetermined principal payment which was part of a settlement between Plaintiff/Appellant and Defendant Modulaire. Trial Transcript at p. 13.

17. On December 5, 1985, Plaintiff recorded a Notice of Lien with the Salt Lake County Recorder's Office as Entry No. 4172790, Book 5715, Page 1421. Notice of Lien Attached to Complaint, Exhibit B -- R. at 15.

18. The construction contract between Space Building and Modulaire is an Associated General Contractors of America Standard Subcontract Agreement for Building Construction (hereinafter "subcontract"), with Modulaire's name and logo attached to the title page, signed as subcontractor and contractor, respectively.

Affidavit of Chilton Leach, Exhibit 4, Subcontract Cover Sheet and pp. 1, 7 -- R. at 226.

19. The subcontract encompassed complete "electrical rough & finish interior." Affidavit of Chilton Leach, Exhibit 4, section 1.1 -- R. at 226.

20. The subcontract entitled Modulaire to lien waivers from Space Building, allowed deduction of payments to Space Building from Modulaire due to any claim of lien, required Space Building to keep the building reasonably clean from debris, permitted Modulaire to require a performance bond and labor and material payment bond, and stated that any disputes arising from the subcontract shall be decided by arbitration in accordance with the Construction Industry Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association. Affidavit of Chilton Leach, Exhibit 4, articles 2.1, 2.4, 2.5, 3.6, 6 and 10.1 (Emphasis Supplied) -- R. at 226.

21. The Purchase Order between Modulaire and Hercules for procurement of the office complexes refers to them as "complexes" and "office complexes." Affidavit of Chilton Leach, Exhibit 3, pp. 1, 4 -- R. at 217.

22. The Purchase Order states that Hercules is "responsible for site preparation, sewer, water and electrical service hook-ups." Id. at 2.

23. The Purchase Order states that Modulaire is responsible for any repair or maintenance in the "shell of the office complex." Id. at 4.

24. The tenor of Specification No. 9106 is that of the construction of a building or structure rather than a mobile unit. Affidavit of Ryder Christian Waring, Exhibit 1 -- R. at 240.

25. Modulaire' s Manufacturer's Statement of Origin to a Motor Vehicle refers to the Offices as a building: "The Corporation certifies that this was the first transfer of such new Modular building. . . ." Affidavit of Chilton Leach, Exhibit 1 (Emphasis Supplied) -- R. at 172.

26. The Purchase Order, which specifies the lease terms, contains a recapture provision wherein Hercules is allowed to buy the Office complex with 50% of previously made lease payments going toward the purchase price. Affidavit of Chilton Leach, Exhibit 3, pp. 3-4 -- 217.

27. The Purchase Order provides Hercules with an option to extend the leases beyond the initial two year period with the extended lease rate in no case to be higher than the present monthly rates. Affidavit of Chilton Leach, Exhibit 3, pp. 1, 3-- R. at 217.

28. The Purchase Order provides for a certain dismantling cost if and when necessary. Affidavit of Chilton Leach, Exhibit 3, p. 1 (Emphasis Supplied) -- R. at 217.

29. Complete water, sewer, telephone and electrical lines have been constructed and affixed to the office complexes; the wheels and hitches are removed; concrete sidewalks and stairs with steel railings lead to the office complexes; grading was performed in preparation for the office complexes; significant amounts of

asphalt were placed to create extensive parking areas with the asphalt fitting snugly within the serrated skirting and extending halfway up the skirting in certain areas; several units are joined to form expansive office complexes; Annex 15 is "L" shaped, joined by an enclosed, suspended walkway; Annex 16 is terraced and joined by interior stairwells; rain gutters and air conditioning units are attached; the interior is completely finished with carpet and drywall overlapping the joints of the connected, prefabricated shells; the office complexes, costing nearly one half million dollars, rest on a permanent foundation of cinder block; and the proposal for expansion of the parking lot for Annex 16 refers to the annex as "Building." Affidavit of Kurt C. Faux; Exhibit "1"-- R. at 405.

30. The subcontract refers to Hercules as the Owner. Affidavit of Chilton Leach, Exhibit 4, subcontract Cover Sheet-- R. at 226.

31. Hercules states that it manages the property pursuant to an agreement with the United States Navy. Affidavit of Ryder Christian Waring, para. 6 (Emphasis Supplied) -- R. at 168.

32. Hercules states that it uses the property pursuant to a contract with the Government of the United States. Hercules' Answer to Complaint, para. 7 -- R. at 23.

33. The contract with the United States Government grants Hercules wide-ranging use and control of all the "facilities" (the term "facilities" under said contract means "all property provided under the contract"). The property is occupied with the

Government's permission, and Hercules' interest is subordinate to the Government's interest. Affidavit of Ryder Christian Waring, Exhibit 2, General Provisions For Facilities Use Contracts, Clause Numbers 1, 2, 6, 8, 10, 13, 14, 15 and 29 -- R. at 247.

34. Hercules initially spent approximately one half million dollars for the office complexes.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

With regard to the dismissal of Plaintiff-Appellant's mechanic's lien cause of action on summary judgment, the trial court erred in two respects in ruling that Plaintiff-Appellant's mechanic's lien could not attach to the interest of Defendant-Appellee Hercules in and to the subject property. First, there is nothing in the Facilities Use Agreement between Defendant-Appellee Hercules and the United States Government which is an absolute bar to the alienability of Hercules interest in the property. In fact, the Facilities Use Agreement contemplates the possibility of such liens. Second, there is nothing in the mechanic's lien statute which requires that an interest in real property must be alienable in order for a mechanic's lien to attach.

With respect to the dismissal of Plaintiff-Appellant's failure to obtain a payment bond cause of action, the trial court erred in ruling that the office complexes were personal property which were not affixed to the subject real property. Based upon the full facts and circumstance presented to the trial court, the correct legal conclusion is that the office complexes do

constitute "construction, addition to, alteration or repair of any building, structure or improvement."

ARGUMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

This argument addresses two primary issues. First, the alienability of Defendant-Appellee Hercules' interest in and to the subject property does not affect whether a mechanic's lien can attach to such interest. And second, the facts presented to the trial court do not support the legal conclusion that the office complexes are personal property which has not become affixed to the real property. In the alternative, such facts show that the traditional test of fixtures v. personal property cannot apply in the case at bar and still give effect to the clear legislative intent with regard to mechanic's lien and payment bond claims.

Since the mechanic's lien and payment bond statutes are in para materia and since this appeal involves both mechanic's lien and payment bond matters, the issues will be discussed in terms of both statutes. Adjudications of payment bond statutes are helpful in determining mechanic's lien issues and adjudications of mechanic's lien statutes are helpful in determining payment bond issues liens. King Bros., Inc. v. Utah Dry Kiln Co., 440 P.2d 17, 19, (Utah 1968).

Utah Code Annotated § 14-2-1 (1953 as amended in 1985) states, in pertinent part:

The owner of any interest in land entering into a contract, involving \$2,000 or more, for the construction, addition to, alteration, or

repair of any building, structure or improvement upon land shall, before any such work is commenced, , obtain from the contractor a bond in a sum equal to the contract price, with good and sufficient sureties, conditioned upon the faithful performance of the contract and prompt payment for material furnished, equipment and materials rented, and labor performed under the contract.

Utah Code Annotated § 38-1-3 (1953 as amended in 1981)

states, in pertinent part:

Contractors, Subcontractors and all persons performing any services or furnishing or renting any materials or equipment used in the construction, alteration, or improvement of any building, structure or improvement to any premises in any manner . . . shall have a lien upon the property upon or concerning which the they have rendered service, performed labor or furnished or rented materials or equipment for the value of the service rendered, labor performed or material or equipment furnished or rented by each respectively Such liens shall attach to only such interest as the owner may have in the property. . . .

II. THE ALIENABILITY OF AN INTEREST IN REAL PROPERTY DOES NOT AFFECT THE ATTACHMENT OF A MECHANIC'S LIEN TO THAT INTEREST

1. There is Nothing in the Utah Mechanic's Lien Statutes or in the Cases Interpreting such Statutes Which Require Alienability of an Interest in Real Property as a Precondition to Attachment of a Mechanic's Lien.

Since Plaintiff-Appellant's mechanic's lien cause of action was dismissed on a motion for summary judgment, the standard of review is that all facts and reasonable inferences of proof are to be decided in a light most favorable to Plaintiff-Appellant. Gadd v. Olson, 685 P.2d 1041 (Utah 1984); King Bros., Inc. v. Utah Dry Kiln Company, 374 P.2d 254 (Utah 1962).

The court below ruled that Defendant-Appellee Hercules' interest in the property is not alienable and held that in such a situation, a mechanic's lien could not attach to that interest. The ruling that Defendant-Appellee Hercules interest is not alienable is not supported by the evidence presented to the trial court at the motion for summary judgment. For example, the agreement between Defendant-Appellee Hercules contains a promise by Hercules to keep the property free from all liens, thus, anticipating to possibility of encumbrances. See Affidavit of Ryder Christian Waring, Exhibit 2, General Provisions for Facilities Use Contract, Paragraph 8 -- R. at 275. Also as an example, Defendant-Appellee Hercules is not only allowed to use to subject property without payment therefor in the performance of government contracting work, it is also authorized to use the property for any other purpose and as long as Defendant-Appellee Hercules pays the appropriate monetary rental therefor. See Affidavit of Ryder Christian Waring, Exhibit 2, General Provisions for Facilities Use Contract, Paragraph 2 -- R. at 270.

From a reading of the entire Facilities Use Agreement, it is clear that there is no absolute bar to alienability of Hercules' interest. Defendant-Appellee Hercules asserted, and apparently the trial court believed, that a transfer of the property would result in an automatic termination of the Facilities Use Agreement. However, it appears to be within the discretion of the United States Government whether to terminate the Agreement upon such an occurrence.

Furthermore, to allow the trial court's "alienability" ruling to stand would contravene the clear purpose of the mechanic's lien and payment bond statutes and encourage owners of property to structure their dealings in such a way as to avoid the applicability of the mechanic's lien and payment bond statutes.

The purpose of Utah mechanic's lien statute is to provide protection to those who enhance the value of property by supplying labor or materials. Interiors Contracting, Inc. v. Navalco, 648 P.2d 1382, 1386 (Utah 1982). The statute is liberally and broadly construed to effect this desired objective. Id.; AAA Fencing Co. v. Raintree Development, 714 P.2d 289, 291 (Utah 1986).

In its memoranda and at the hearing on the motion for summary judgment, Defendant-Appellee Hercules argued that it has no legal interest in the real property, although it did admit that a Facilities Use Agreement exists between Defendant-Appellee Hercules and the United States Navy. The trial court found that Hercules did have some interest in the property but ruled that such interest was not alienable.

And, while Defendant-Appellee Hercules nor the trial court do not term Hercules interest in the subject land as a lease under the Facilities Use Agreement, the law clearly does. A valid lease exists when there is (1) a binding contract in compliance with the statute of frauds; (2) possession by the tenant; (3) legal title in the landlord; and (4) a leasehold that is capable of being granted. Summary of Utah Real Property Law, Vol. II at 565-66 (1978). All of these elements for a lease are satisfied in the

present case. If Hercules interest is indeed a lease, a mechanic's lien can attach thereto.

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