1989

John Wagner Associates v. Hercules, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court correctly found as a matter of fact after trial that the placing of leased mobile office units constituting Annexes 15 and 16 on the Navy's land by Hercules pursuant to its lease with Modulaire did not constitute the construction, addition to, alteration or repair of a building, structure, or improvement upon land as required by Utah's Bond statute, Utah Code Ann. § 14-2-1 et seq. (1986), and, thus, as a matter of law that Hercules is not within the class of persons subject to the provisions of Utah's Bond statute, § 14-2-1 et seq. (1986).

Modulaire's trailers have not become part of the Navy's land by virtue of Hercules' contract with Modulaire. Materials become an integrated part of real property only when annexed to the land or made a part of some permanent structure on the land. In Paul Mueller Co. v. Cache Valley Dairy Ass'n, 657 P.2d 1279 (Utah 1982), the Utah Supreme Court discussed a tripartite test to be used in distinguishing between real and personal property for the purposes of establishing whether a conversion has occurred. The three factors articulated by the Court are: (1) The manner in which the item is annexed to realty; (2) Whether the item is adaptable to the particular use of the realty; and

(3) The intention of the annexor to make an item a permanent part of the realty.

In the instant case, the mobile office units have not been "annexed" to the realty. The removability of the units was contemplated by the parties in the express terms of the lease. In fact, the evidence showed that trailers almost identical to the trailers in this litigation had already been removed from the premises. The subject trailers were easily removable by disconnecting the pipes, reinstalling the wheels, and pulling them away, just as had been done previously with other trailers. They are, after all, nothing more than trailers.

The Mueller court determined that an item is "adaptable" to the particular use of the realty when it is integrated into real property to further a specific purpose for which the real property has been devoted. The court stated, however, that personal property located on real property that is adaptable to multiple uses does not become "adapted" simply because the presence of the personal property determines the use of the real property at a particular time. In the instant case, the property was vacant and highly adaptable to multiple uses. Placing these trailers on the property did nothing to further any specific purpose for which the property could be devoted. The trailers are used as temporary offices and do not have any special integration with the real property. The adaptation prong of the Mueller test has therefore not been met.

Another important prong of the Mueller test is whether the parties intended the property to be personal property or real property. In this case, the "intention" of the parties to retain the personal property characteristics of the units is strongly supported by the transaction documents. The written quote from Modulaire to Hercules was for mobile office units, specifying both setup and dismantling charges. In addition, each trailer is required to have a Manufacturer's Statement of Origin and to have a Motor Vehicle License under Utah law. Since each trailer is classified as a motor vehicle by the Department of Motor Vehicles, each unit is issued a license plate and a certificate of title, and is thereafter taxed as personal property. None of the three requirements set forth by the Mueller court have been met in this case.

The district court also correctly found that Hercules is not subject to Utah's Mechanics' Lien statute. The remedy in a mechanic's lien action is for the court to sell the owner's interest in the property in order to satisfy the liens and the cost incurred by the lienholder. The threshold issue with respect to the lien statute is, therefore, the availability of an interest in land which can be judicially sold. Hercules has no interest in the Navy's land which could possibly be sold at a sheriff's sale or other judicial sale. Hercules uses the land without any lease, but pursuant to an Award/Contract. Hercules is allowed to use the land so long as it uses the land for work

on government contracts. Hercules does not own the land and it has no interest in the land to which a mechanic's lien could attach. Consequently, the district court correctly found as a matter of law that Hercules' interest in the land is not alienable and that it is not sufficient to be attached under the Utah Mechanics' Lien statute, Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-1 et seq.

Even if Hercules were subject to the mechanics' lien statute as a matter of law, as a matter of fact the mobile office units were not annexed to the land and thus the requirements of the statute are not satisfied. This Court should therefore affirm both the district court's Order and its Judgment.

ARGUMENT

I

THE RELIEF SOUGHT BY WAGNER IN THIS APPEAL IS NOT AVAILABLE.

The trial court's findings of fact were not clearly erroneous and its conclusions of law were completely correct. The lack of foundation for this appeal becomes apparent when the relief sought by Wagner from this Court is studied.

The only issues pertaining to the bond statute relate to the legal determination made by the trial court that Hercules' having placed leased mobile office units comprising Annexes 15 and 16 on the Navy's land did not constitute the construction, addition to, alteration or repair of a building, structure, or improvement upon land, and that Hercules is not a person subject

to the provisions of the bond statute. The trial court wanted to hear evidence regarding the placement of the mobile office units on the Navy's land so that it could make both the appropriate factual determination and the appropriate legal determination.

There are two issues to be considered under the mechanics' lien statute. The first issue under the mechanics' lien statute is one of law. Even if the facts were sufficient to support annexation of the mobile trailers onto the Navy's land, nonetheless, as a matter of law the summary judgment must stand because Hercules has no interest in the property which can be foreclosed upon. The second issue is of a factual nature. Wagner would have this Court reverse the summary judgment granted Hercules by the trial court and "remand for further proceedings in the foreclosure of the Mechanic's Lien." (Brief, p.35). If the case were remanded, the only factual issues that could be determined would be those that have already been fully determined by the trial court after trial on the issues presented under the bond statute. Thus, if this Court sustains the trial court's factual findings with respect to the annexation issue under the bond statute, there would be absolutely no reason to remand this case on the mechanic's lien issue because the facts will automatically have been found against Wagner's position. In other words, there is no remedy for Wagner under the mechanics' lien statute, as is discussed herein.

II

THE STANDARDS OF LAW APPLICABLE TO THIS CASE ARE NOT IN DISPUTE.

Utah's Mechanics' Lien statute and Contractors' Bond statute are similar in nature, similar in language and identical in purpose. The mechanics' lien statute provides that persons furnishing materials used in the construction or improvement of any building, structure, or improvement to any premises shall have a lien on the property for which they furnish materials. A lien granted under this statute can only attach to such interest as the owner may have in the property. Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-3 et seq. (1974 and Supp. 1986). Similarly, the Contractors' Bond statute provides that the owner of any interest in land entering into a contract for the construction or improvement of any building, structure or improvement upon land shall obtain from the contractor a bond conditioned for the faithful performance of the contract and prompt payment for materials furnished and labor performed under the contract. Utah Code Ann. § 14-2-1 et seq. (1986).

The parties agree that the statutes are read in pari materia and are applied equally and consistently to the same fact situation. The similarity between the mechanics' lien statute and the contractors' bond statute was noted long ago by the Utah Supreme Court in Rio Grande Lumber Co. v. Darke, 50 Utah 114, 167 P.241 (1917), in which the court upheld the constitutionality of

Utah's Bond statute. Id. at 128, 167 P. at 246. Both of these statutes apply to (1) owners of an interest in land (2) for construction, additions, alterations, or repairs to any building, structure, or improvement on the land. In Rio Grande Lumber Co., the Supreme Court noted that the Utah Bond statute "is auxiliary to our mechanic's lien law, and just as much in aid of it as if it had been made a part of it and incorporated in the same chapter." Id. at 124, 167 P. at 245.

The standard for review of the trial court's Findings of Fact is set forth in Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a). It provides, in pertinent part:

Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses. . . .

This Court has recently upheld this standard in Butler v. Lee, 108 Utah Adv. Rep. 49, 50 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). See also State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 192-193 (Utah 1987). In Walker, the Utah Supreme Court quoted Wright & Miller in defining that standard:

The appellate court . . . does not consider and weigh the evidence de novo. The mere fact that on the same evidence the appellate court might have reached a different result does not justify it in setting the findings aside. It may regard a finding as clearly erroneous only if the finding is without adequate evidentiary support or induced by an erroneous view of the law.

Id. at 193 (citing Wright & Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure § 2585 (1971)). Thus, under the "clearly erroneous" standard of Rule 52(a), this Court will uphold the Findings of Fact entered by the trial court unless this Court determines that the findings are against the clear weight of the evidence, or unless this Court otherwise reaches a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. Walker, 743 P.2d at 193.

While Wagner correctly cites Utah law for the proposition that, in the appeal of an order granting summary judgment, the facts must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the summary judgment is granted, nonetheless Wagner's appeal will not succeed for that reason alone.

III

THE LEASED MOBILE OFFICE UNITS USED BY HERCULES ON THE NAVY'S LAND HAVE NOT BECOME INTEGRATED INTO THE NAVY'S LAND.

The issue of whether Hercules is an "owner" of any interest in land so as to be subject to the bond statute was decided by the trial court on a summary judgment motion brought by Wagner. However, the trial court found as a matter of law that Hercules is not subject to the bond statute because the trial court found that, as a matter of fact, Hercules did not contract for the construction, addition to, alteration or repair of any building, structure, or improvement upon land. There are no cases defining what constitutes the construction, addition to,

alteration or repair of any building, structure, or improvement upon land under the bond statute. But the bond statutes and the mechanics' lien statutes are read in pari materia. Therefore, good guidelines exist in determining whether personal property has become annexed to real property. The trial court reserved the issue for trial so that, by reference to the statute, the court could determine whether Hercules was a person contracting for the construction, addition to, alteration or repair of any building, structure, or improvement upon land.

Wagner suggests that Hercules should somehow be bound by the agreement between Modulaire and Space Building Systems. However, no party to this appeal was in fact a party to that contract and it is not at issue in this case. Furthermore, the fact that Modulaire's agreement with Space Building Systems refers to Hercules as an "owner" is not sufficient to support a legal conclusion that Hercules is subject to the bond statute.

Hercules is not subject to the statute, because the mobile office units have not been annexed to the Navy's land. In making that finding, the trial court dealt with the purely factual issue of whether the mobile office units had been annexed to the land.

The trial court's finding that the mobile office units were never made part of the Navy's land is not clearly erroneous. In order to be within the class of persons included within the scope of the Utah Mechanics' Lien statute, materials supplied for

a project must have become a part of the realty. See Paul Mueller Co. v. Cache Valley Dairy Association, 657 P.2d 1279, 1283 (Utah 1982); Stanton Transportation Co. v. Davis, 9 Utah 2d 184, 190, 341 P.2d 207, 211 (1959). A mechanic's lien can be acquired only on land, and that land is subject to the lien only if the supplier's materials have been integrated into it. Eccles Lumber Co. v. Martin, 31 Utah 241, 87 P. 713 (1906). The same considerations apply when considering the integration question in connection with the bond statute. No liability could be imposed on Hercules because Wagner failed to show that the materials supplied by it to the project became integrated into the Navy's land.

Materials become an integrated part of real property only when annexed to the land or made a part of some permanent structure on the land. In Mueller, Cache Valley Dairy Association contracted with Maxum Corp. for the installation of a whey drying system on Cache Valley's premises. Maxum subcontracted with Mueller to construct parts of the system and with Dahle to assemble and install the system. Cache Valley contracted with a separate contractor to pour a cement foundation and to assemble a four-story prefabricated metal building. After Cache Valley had paid Maxum in full, Maxum declared bankruptcy, leaving unpaid balances owing to Dahle and to Mueller. Dahle and Mueller filed a notice of lien on the whey drying equipment and sued to foreclose. The Utah Supreme Court upheld the lower court decision

and found that the equipment manufactured by Mueller and much of the equipment installed by Dahle constituted personal property rather than improvements to realty as required by the Utah Contractors' Bond statute, Section 14-2-1, and the Utah Mechanics' Lien statute, Section 38-1-4, and that Mueller and Dahle therefore held no statutory liens upon the equipment. In making its decision, the Mueller court discussed the tripartite test established in Heiselt Const. Co. v. Garff, 225 P.2d 720, 721 (Utah 1950), in distinguishing between real and personal property for the purposes of establishing whether a conversion has occurred.

The Mueller court accepted the Heiselt test, making the same real/personal property distinction for statutory lien purposes. 657 P.2d at 1283. The three factors articulated by the Utah Supreme Court are: "(1) [the] manner in which the item is annexed to realty; (2) whether the item is adaptable to the particular use of the realty; and (3) the intention of the annexor to make an item a permanent part of the realty." Id. at 1283. Each factor, as well as other considerations, is discussed in more detail below.

A. Manner Of Annexation.

Addressing the annexation issue, the Mueller court found that, although the whey drying equipment was attached to the real property with ducts, wires, welding, and bolts, mere physical attachment did not necessarily mean that an item of

personal property had become part of the realty. Instead, the court looked at whether the equipment could be removed from the real property without extreme difficulty.

Wagner's reliance upon the "testimony" of its attorney, both by affidavit and in the Brief, is at best unusual. Wagner suggests that the paving of the parking lot in front of Annex 15 and Annex 16 was molded to the skirting that covered the cinder block stands for the trailers. (Brief p. 25.) The intention apparently is to show that somehow the pavement made the office complex more permanent. However, as the photographs, and particularly Exhibit 70 show, when these mobile office units are removed, neither the skirting nor the paving that abuts the skirting stands in the way. Furthermore, the comments at page 26 of the Brief with respect to the stairways with steel railings are misleading. In fact, the steel stairs and railings were placed at the front of the office complexes. They are few in number. On the other hand, at the rear of the office complexes, as shown in photographs Exhibits 84 and 85, all of the doors have wooden stairways leading to them which are easily demounted. In fact, however, once again the stairways are easily removed and in fact were removed when the mobile office units in Annexes 9 and 10 were hauled away from the Navy's land. (R. 640, p. 114-120).

Of course, neither the trial court nor this Court is called upon to decide whether "those installing the underground

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